STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Jun 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Darlington County

Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GREGORY LAMONT BENJAMIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001017

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the plea court erred by ruling appellant having masturbated in the presence of his former public defender in the county jail during an attorney-client visit was good cause or cause to order appellant placed on the sex offender registry pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(C)(1)(f) for indecent exposure at the behest of that attorney, where appellant's plea attorney, Ms. Berry, a former public defender, told the judge "this kind of thing happens all the time," she noted that appellant had no prior convictions for crimes of a sexual nature, and there was no competent evidence appellant was a risk to reoffend sexually since the state failed to prove appellant should be placed on the sex offender registry under these circumstances?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the October 6, 2022 term of the Darlington County grand jury for the offense of indecent exposure. R. 28-29. Appellant appeared on June 10, 2024, and pled guilty in front of the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran. Ashley N. Berry represented appellant. Jason Bridges was the assistant attorney general appearing for the state. R. 1.

At the beginning of the plea, the assistant attorney general told the judge that the state recommended a sentence of time served. R. 2, ll. 2-13. At the conclusion of the plea proceeding, the judge ruled, over strenuous defense objections, that appellant would be placed on the sex offender registry. The judge sentenced appellant to time served as recommended. R. 15, l. 17 – 16, l. 4. An order “Finding Defendant To Be Place [sic] on Sex Offender Registry Per 23-3-340” was later filed on July 23, 2024. R. 22-23.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Sentencing: “In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009)(quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

ARGUMENT

The plea court erred by ruling appellant having masturbated in the presence of his former public defender in the county jail during an attorney-client visit was good cause or cause to order appellant placed on the sex offender registry pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430 (C)(1)(f) for indecent exposure at the behest of that attorney, where appellant's plea attorney, Ms. Berry, a former public defender, told the judge "this kind of thing happens all the time," she noted that appellant had no prior convictions for crimes of a sexual nature, and there was no competent evidence appellant was a risk to reoffend sexually since the state failed to prove appellant should be placed on the sex offender registry under these circumstances.

Relevant facts

At the beginning of the guilty plea proceeding, assistant attorney general Bridges told the judge that appellant was waiving venue for this Darlington County indecent exposure charge and pleading guilty in Sumter, South Carolina. The recommendation was time served. As seen below, the assistant attorney general only referred to the potential for the sex offender registry as something appellant's former public defender, M.W., wanted to address with the court. It was not a state's recommendation. R. 1; R. 2, ll. 5-14.

Bridges told the judge that Darlington County public defender M.W. represented appellant in his probation violation case. M.W. went to visit appellant on August 1, 2022, at the Darlington County Detention Center. At about 10:30 a.m., defense counsel M.W. and appellant were seated "across from each other at a small rectangular table." R. 4, ll. 15-24. Bridges offered:

After about ten to fifteen minutes Ms. M.W. noticed that Gregory Benjamin was moving his arm in an up and down motion. Ms. M.W. stood up and moved to exit the interview room and as she did she saw that Mr. Benjamin had continued to move his hands in

an up and down motion like he was masturbating. And when she turned and looked at him he, his penis was visible. Ms. M.W. exited the room and stood in the vestibule waiting to leave because it was, at that jail you have to get the guards to buzz you out. While she was waiting Mr. Benjamin continued to expose himself and he also spoke to Ms. M.W. to try to get her to come back into the room. Ms. M.W. was then released from the room and she reported to the Darlington County Sheriff's Deputies that were there at the jail. The following day she gave a statement to Investigator Charles Cusack and she described what had happened. He obtained an arrest warrant for indecent exposure. That was served on him on August 2nd, 2022. He has remained in custody ever since. *Ms. M.W. is here, she would like to address the Court at the appropriate time about the potential for sex offender registry.* He has not bonded out so he has 540 days time credit, that is why the State is recommending time served. I have his prior record too if you would like me to read later, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Are those facts correct, Mr. Benjamin?

MR. BENJAMIN: Not all but yeah.

R. 4, l. 24 – 5, l. 25. (emphasis added).

After some discussion about the indictment, the judge accepted appellant's guilty plea as freely and voluntarily tendered. R. 9, ll. 9-18. Appellant's former public defender, Ms. M.W., was given the opportunity to address the court. Ms. M.W. then asked the judge to order her former client placed on the sex offender registry for his actions at the Darlington County Detention Center during their attorney-client visit that August 1, 2022 morning:

M.W.: M.W. As they said, I am a Public Defender in Darlington. So you know, I understand that my job comes with a certain level of expecting bad things to happen. But this shouldn't be one of them, you know. I was trapped in a tiny little vestibule, didn't have anywhere to go. This wasn't something, you know, this was sexually motivated. This is something that a predator would do. He belongs on the registry, Your Honor. If he hasn't done this or worse to somebody outside of a controlled setting like a jail I would be shocked. And he has a history of doing this. We pulled his SCDC disciplinary, that is what he does, Your Honor. You know, I don't think that this should be a job hazard. And I was asked, oh, this is the first time this has happened to you? That

shouldn't, that shouldn't happen to anybody. You know, I just, I think that he needs to be monitored for a significant period, if not the rest of his life. He belongs on the registry. Again, I know he has already satisfied his time, I am not asking for time, I am asking for somebody to watch this man because he needs to be monitored. It is not an isolated incident, it will happen again.

R. 9, l. 22 – 10, l. 18.

Defense counsel Ashley Berry then told the judge:

MS. BERRY: [Y]our Honor. So this case has been a little bit strange for me because like Ms. S., Ms. M.W., I am also a female attorney. I was a Public Defender for the first four years of my practice, now I am a private attorney. And I can tell you that this kind of thing happens all the time. Whenever I was a Public Defender this sort of thing happened to me, I would say at least once a month, once every other month. I don't even remember all of their names anymore, I don't even remember all of the circumstances in which this happened to me. And whenever we are having, you know, the attorney and equivalent of water cooler discussions with other female attorneys such as at the Public Defender Conference that we have once a year in Myrtle Beach, this is something that we talk about. And one of the eternal questions that the female attorneys discuss with each other is how do you handle it. *And over my years serving as a Public Defender I found ways of handling it, I found ways of telling clients that that was not appropriate and I am shutting it down. I will say that while I have been representing Mr. Benjamin I have had several in-person interactions with him and have never had him be aggressive towards me, I have never had him make a comment that I consider to be derogatory or sexual and he has certainly never masturbated at me during one of our meetings. I understand the fact, you know, that he did do this with Ms. M.W. and he does have a history of doing it while in SCDC as you can see from his disciplinary record. But he does not have anything of the sort on his record outside of SCDC, outside of a place where he is confined. And I find that that has been true not only for Mr. Benjamin but also for most of the other clients with him, I have had these sort of experiences.* They don't happen with my clients that are charged with sex crimes, like they tend to happen frankly most frequently with my clients that are charged with very low non-serious crimes *who have been in jails for a month or more.* They seem to be the ones who struggle the most with, you know, not doing this very inappropriate thing.

R. 11, l. 12 – 12, l. 25. (emphasis added).

Defense counsel Berry continued that she went to visit appellant in prison near the border in North Carolina. She had a long conversation with appellant about the improper nature “[o]f doing those sorts of things and in particular it doesn’t really make your attorney want to work very hard for you whenever the person that you’re doing that at is your lawyer who is supposed to be helping defend you on a probation violation or on a pending charge. I think that he understands that, I think that he just kind of had a lapse in judgment due to confinement. You do see that happen with men sometimes but outside of confinement he has no record.” R. 13, ll. 1-

12. Berry went on to explain:

You do see that happen with men sometimes but outside of confinement he has no record. *I mean, Ms. M.W.'s argument for putting him on the record is essentially, well, what if he has done this before or he is probably done this before. But that is not what Your Honor has in front of you. Your Honor has to make a decision based on the facts as we know them to be which is that, yes, he did commit this crime but he has no sexual priors and he does not show any inclination towards predatory behavior. I mean, none of these are assaults. Even his SCDC disciplinary record, my memory is that they are exposures. I mean these are things where people have seen him pleasuring himself, not incidents where he has gone after another person or attacked another person or forced himself on another person. I do not think that this is the kind of person that needs to be on our sex offender registry. The purpose of the registry is to notify the community of predators, to notify the community of people that are dangerous. I do not believe that Mr. Benjamin falls into that category. I would also just bring out for the Court the fact that Mr. Benjamin has alerted to me that the fact that he does have minor children but because he was never married to their mothers he doesn't have any custody of those children. So if Your Honor were to put him on the registry he is not going to be able to see those children either until they turn 18 or best-case scenario if he gets let off of the registry 15 years from now. That is when he would be able to see his children again. He told me just this morning that apparently one of his children and her nine-month-old daughter was involved in a shooting in Bishopville and they buried his grandson and his daughter is still in the hospital. He wants to be able to interact with his children and*

his grandchildren. He doesn't want to be separated from them because of this. I think that, you know, this has been, I also just want to remark, I know that Your Honor has seen him show some reluctance to plead guilty this morning. It is not because he disputes the underlying facts of the case, he agrees that he masturbated in front of Ms. M.W. *He is terrified of being on the registry, he is terrified of having that mark [on] him for the rest of his life.* It is not, it is not that he is unwilling to plead guilty to this offense and take responsibility for it. And I think that this has told him something about, you know, things that are appropriate and things that are not. So I would ask that you not put him on the registry. *My client has stated that he doesn't want to make any statements to the Court but he does wish [for] me to apologize to Ms. M.W. on his behalf which I will do.*

R. 13, l. 12 – 15, l. 11 (emphasis added).

After hearing from defense counsel Berry, the judge stated: “I want to go think about this,” and there was a short recess.

The judge then stated that defense counsel “[m]ade a compelling argument about him not having any sexual crimes in the past. But he has got at least two issues in the Department of Corrections, even with public masturbation. And it is, you know, a scenario that is somebody who will do that with their lawyer who is a court appointed official, I just think that is a grievance [sic] situation. I’m going to put him on the registry, he can apply. He can make it without getting in any more trouble, he can petition the court to get off.”¹ R. 15, l. 17 – 16, l. 3.

Discussion

The burden is on the state to prove good cause exists to order a defendant to register as a sex offender. This Court in In the Interest of Christopher H., 432 S.C. 600, 605, 854 S.E.2d 853, 855 (Ct. App. 2021), noted that our Supreme Court in In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 327, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010), stated “‘good cause’ for purposes of placing a juvenile offender on the

¹ The truncated written order issued later added nothing of substance to the judge’s oral order placing appellant on the sex offender registry. In fact, the order specifically referred to “specific findings of fact” the court made during the guilty plea proceeding. See R. 22-23. (order).

private sex offender registry ‘means only that the [sentencing court] must consider the facts and circumstances of the case to make a determination of whether or not the evidence indicates a risk to offend sexually.’” 387 S.C. at 327, 692 S.E.2d at 542. Whether it is a juvenile or an adult, the pertinent “good cause” inquiry is whether the state has shown through the evidence it presented to the court that the defendant poses a risk to reoffend sexually. See State v. Fraley, 437 S.C. 135, 138, 876 S.E.2d 703, 705 (2022).

As to the crime of indecent exposure, the statute states that sexual offender registry is required only “if the court makes a specific finding on the record that, based on the circumstances of the case, the convicted person should register as a sex offender.” See S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430 (C)(1)(f). The written order erroneously cited S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-340, but it did cite the conclusory language that “the court made a specific finding of fact on the record that, based on the circumstances of this case, it was warranted that the Defendant be required to register as a sex offender.” R. 22-23. (order).

In Wiesart v. Stewart, 379 S.C. 300, 665 S.E.2d 187 (2008), this Court noted that prior to 1996, sex offender registration was required for any person convicted of indecent exposure. However, in 1996, the statute was amended to require registration only “if the court makes a specific finding on the record **based on the circumstances of the case the conviction person should register as a sex offender.**” (emphasis added).

Thus, a cause standard now exists for showing that a person convicted of indecent exposure should be placed on the sex offender registry. Appellant submits that cause standard should be “good cause.”

In a sexually violent predator civil commitment case, the state must prove the defendant is an SVP by the standard of beyond a reasonable doubt. See S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-100 (A).

This civil commitment continues until the defendant is deemed no longer a danger to the public, and it is based on the finding by the General Assembly that the risk of reoffending by certain people convicted of sexual offenses is significant if they are not treated for their “mental conditions.” See S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-20.

A person placed on the sex offender registry, as explained below, cannot live a normal life once released from prison. A person on the sex offender registry has significant restrictions on his freedom, as does a committed sexually violent predator, and these real-life detriments detract from the ability of the person to be rehabilitated or reformed which is a legitimate purpose of punishment. Consequently, the cause necessary for a person to be placed on the sex offender registry for the crime of indecent exposure under S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430 (C)(1)(f) should be more than proof by a preponderance of the evidence that he is likely to reoffend.

“It is axiomatic that a [defendant] with a history of sexual offense or offenses will be at some risk [to reoffend], even if the risk is very low.” In the Interest of Christopher H., 432 S.C. at 606, 854 S.E.2d at 856. The Court in In the Interest of Christopher H., also observed that “if any risk is sufficient to establish good cause, the statute requiring the solicitor to show good cause would be of no purpose because all [defendants] would automatically be placed on the registry.” Id., 432 S.C. at 606-07, 854 S.E.2d at 856.

The purpose of the sex offender registry is to protect the public against an offender reoffending sexually, and the state in this case failed to present “good cause” or “cause” or even proof by a preponderance of the evidence that appellant was a real risk to reoffend. This is not surprising since the state did not present any evidence appellant was a risk to reoffend, and it merely let the victim/attorney address the court about the propriety of the sex offender registry.

In this case, the judge correctly noted that the defense made a “compelling argument about him [appellant] not having any sexual crimes in the past.” R 15, ll. 17-19. The state presented no competent evidence that appellant was a risk to reoffend, much less a real risk to reoffend. Appellant’s former public defender was driving the sex offender registry bus in this case, not the prosecutor, who only recommended time served for the offense.

Defense counsel noted that appellant’s prior public defender urged the judge to put appellant on the sex offender registry because, based on this one incident, she surmised he had probably done it before and guessed that it would happen again. R 13, ll. 12-16. His former public defender’s belief, respectfully, was pure speculation about appellant’s prior and future conduct from a lawyer who turned her own client in for his “inappropriate” behavior during their attorney-client meeting. Her belief that appellant should be on the sex offender registry was the opinion of an angry victim to which she was undoubtedly entitled, but it was not competent evidence of appellant’s risk of reoffending sexually.

Defense counsel argued that appellant had no prior sexual convictions, and he did not show any inclination towards predatory behavior. Defense counsel Berry told the judge she recognized as a defense attorney that masturbation was a common occurrence in jail or prison and that she had counseled appellant about the negative impact such behavior had when it occurred within the viewing distance of his defense attorney whose job was to advocate for the best outcome for him.

The indecent exposure in this case did not involve a direct, aggressive course of sexual behavior by appellant. There was no evidence appellant tried to touch his former attorney. It was a crime because a prison or detention center can technically be considered a “public place”

within the meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130, the indecent exposure statute.² Again, not excusing appellant's conduct, it is also more than fair to point out that a criminal client expects his or her attorney not to do anything to harm him which contributes to the highly unusual nature of this case.

Defense counsel Berry specifically said that appellant wished for her to apologize to his former public defender for his wrongful behavior in this case. This showed appellant was remorseful for his improper behavior during a jail meeting with his former public defender, and plea counsel also said she had talked to and counseled appellant about why his behavior was harmful.

Our Supreme Court has indicated that, “[t]he intent of the legislature in enacting the sex offender registry law is to protect the public from those offenders who may reoffend.” In re Ronnie A., 355 S.C. 407, 409, 585 S.E.2d 311, 312 (2003). The sex offender registry is meant to protect the public from a person who is a risk to reoffend sexually and the requirement to register is non-punitive. See In the Interest of Justin B., 419 S.C. 575, 583, 799 S.E.2d 675, 679 (2017).

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