**RECEIVED**

**Apr 11 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Darlington County  
Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2024-001017

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

GREGORY LAMONT BENJAMIN,

Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

Following that, plea counsel filed another notice of appeal. (Second Notice of Appeal). And, through the latest one, plea counsel repeated her earlier claim "the circuit court judge did not make a specific finding of fact on the record that, based on the circumstances of the case, warranted registry as a sex offender." (Second Notice of Appeal).

### **Standard of Review**

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). When reviewing a sentencing issue on appeal, an appellate court will only interfere with a trial judge’s sentencing decisions in rare and unusual circumstances in light of the broad discretion afforded to trial judges on such matters. State v. Ferguson, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952); see State v. Sidell, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974) (“A broad discretion is allowed the trial judge in imposing sentence within the legal limits.”). Relatedly, an appellate court will not interfere with a sentencing judge’s discretionary decision to order a criminal defendant to register as a sex offender absent an abuse of discretion. In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 327, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542-543 (2010); see State v. Fuller, 425 S.C. 468, 479, 822 S.E.2d 910, 916 (Ct. App. 2019) (recognizing an appellate court reviewing a discretionary decision regarding sex offender registration must apply a “deferential” standard of review). Generally speaking, “[a]n abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Patterson, 425 S.C. 500, 507, 823 S.E.2d 217, 221 (Ct. App. 2019) (citation and internal quotations omitted); see also United States v. Summers, 666 F.3d 192, 197 (4th Cir. 2011) (instructing an appellate court will not find a trial judge’s ruling constituted an abuse of discretion unless it was arbitrary and irrational).

### **Analysis**

In response to the serious threat posed by sex offenders, South Carolina—just like the other forty-nine states and the federal government—has adopted laws requiring individuals convicted of certain sex offenses to be required to register as sex offenders. Powell v. Keel, 433 S.C. 457, 462, 860 S.E.2d 344, 346-347 (2021); see McKune v. Lile, 536 U.S. 24, 32-33 (2002)

(plurality opinion) (“Sex offenders are a serious threat in this Nation. . . . When convicted sex offenders reenter society, they are much more likely than any other type of offender to be rearrested for a new rape or sexual assault.”); People v. Ross, 646 N.Y.S.2d 249, 250 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1996) (“Every state requires sex offenders to register[.]”). The core purpose of such laws is to protect the public from those sex offenders who may reoffend and to aid law enforcement in solving sex crimes. State v. Walls, 348 S.C. 26, 31, 558 S.E.2d 524, 526 (2002); see S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400 (“The intent of this article is to promote the state’s fundamental right to provide for the public health, welfare, and safety of its citizens.”); see also Smith v. Doe, 538 U.S. 84, 103 (2003) (“The legislature’s findings are consistent with grave concerns over the high rate of recidivism among convicted sex offenders and their dangerousness as a class.”).

Pursuant to South Carolina’s sex offender registry laws, a sentencing judge *must*—by virtue of the conviction itself and nothing more—order an offender convicted of certain delineated offenses to register as a sex offender.<sup>7</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(C); see Smith, 538 U.S. at 104 (explaining a state’s “determination to legislate with respect to convicted sex offenders as a class, rather than require individual determination of their dangerousness” is not improper or unconstitutional). Meanwhile, if an offender is convicted of an *undelineated* crime not automatically mandating registration, a sentencing judge can discretionarily order that

---

<sup>7</sup> Despite the fact registration as a sex offender is mandatorily required upon conviction for many offenses in South Carolina, Appellant—for the first time on appeal—makes the bizarre unqualified blanket contention “[t]he burden is on the state to prove good cause exists to order a defendant to register as a sex offender.” (App. Br. p. 8). Tellingly, at the same time, Appellant includes no citation to any authority of any kind to actually support that inaccurate and newly-advanced contention. (App. Br. p. 8). Significantly, the likely reason for his failure in that regard is such a contention would only be true pursuant to a statutory provision that was *not* applicable to his own case. Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(C)(1)(f) (including indecent exposure on the list of delineated offenses requiring sex offender registration upon conviction while also including an offense-specific limiting caveat); with S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D) (permitting a trial judge to order sex offender registration “if good cause is shown by the prosecution” upon conviction for “an offense *not* listed in this article” (emphasis added)).

offender “as a condition of sentencing” to register as a sex offender “if good cause is shown by the prosecution.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D); see M.B.H., 387 S.C. at 327, 692 S.E.2d at 542 (“[A] finding of good cause in this context means only that the judge must consider the facts and circumstances of the case to make the determination of whether or not the evidence indicates a risk to reoffend sexually.”).

In our state, “[i]t is unlawful for a person to wilfully, maliciously, and indecently expose his person in a public place, on property of others, or to the view of any person on a street or highway[,]” and an offender who commits such an act is guilty of indecent exposure. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-130. Notably, indecent exposure is, in fact, one of the crimes included on our state’s specifically-delineated list of registerable offenses. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(C)(1)(f). However, unlike most of the other delineated offenses, indecent exposure only requires sex offender registration upon conviction “if the court makes a specific finding on the record that, *based on the circumstances of the case*, the convicted person should register as a sex offender.” Id. (emphasis added). Thus, a sentencing judge in South Carolina must require sex offender registration for an offender convicted of indecent only upon finding the case-specific circumstances warrant it, and, significantly, the readily-apparent and logical reason our legislature elected to include that limiting caveat was a particular act of indecent exposure may *or may not* be sexual in nature based on the specific circumstances involved. See, e.g., State v. Duran, 967 A.2d 184, 196 (Md. 2009) (“[T]he crime of indecent exposure is not in and of itself sexual in nature, because the lewdness element incorporates conduct that is not sexual, in addition to that which may be sexual.”); cf. State v. Murray, 416 P.3d 1225, 1229 (Wash. 2018) (“[T]here are several conceivable examples where an individual could be convicted of indecent

exposure but lack sexual motivation: (1) flashing a passerby for shock value, (2) streaking naked across a school campus, or (3) mooning someone out a window.”).

Here, in the case sub judice, Appellant did not flash someone for shock value, go streaking across a field at a sporting event while nude, moon someone as a joke, or drunkenly and openly urinate in a public space. Instead, he waited until he was alone in meeting room at the Darlington County Detention Center with his female public defender, and, once he had his victim isolated and trapped, he exposed his penis to her without warning and began masturbating. He then kept masturbating after his horrified victim realized what was going on and swiftly attempted to escape, and Appellant—apparently undeterred—responded to that escape attempt by encouraging his victim to return to the meeting room while continuing to engage in that deviant behavior. Thus, Appellant perpetrated a lewd criminal offense upon an officer of the court who was only attempting to aid him with a pending criminal matter, and he did not stop his inappropriate behavior even when it was patently obvious it was upsetting his advocate and now victim.

Based on his actions, Appellant was indisputably guilty of indecent exposure, and his particular offense was obviously, unquestionably, and by definition *sexual* in nature. See New Oxford American Dictionary 1078 (3rd ed. 2010) (defining “masturbate” as to “stimulate one’s own genitals for sexual pleasure” or “simulate the genitals of (someone) to give them sexual pleasure”); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-305(C)(1)(b) (defining “sexual conduct” for purposes of a different statute as—amongst other things—“masturbation”). Furthermore, based on the contents of Appellant’s prior prison disciplinary record coupled with his plea counsel’s candid acknowledgements about that record, Appellant had a preexisting history of similar

behavior while in custody and, thus, his latest act of public masturbation was *not* his first or only one.

Presented with those facts and circumstances, the plea judge could reasonably find the circumstances of Appellant’s specific act of indecent exposure warranted Appellant registering as a sex offender since Appellant’s offense was one that was plainly sexually-motivated and, therefore, supported a conclusion he posed a risk sufficient to warrant his inclusion on the sex offender registry. See Smith, 538 U.S. at 103 (recognizing a state could find a conviction for a sex offense standing alone “provides evidence of substantial risk of recidivism”); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-400 (“Statistics show that sex offenders often pose a high risk of re-offending.”). Accordingly, the plea judge did not abuse his discretion or otherwise err by making just such a finding based on the case-specific circumstances involved and ordering Appellant to register as a sex offender in a matter fully consistent with unambiguous South Carolina law. See S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(C)(1)(f) (stating “a person, regardless of age, who has been convicted or pled guilty or nolo contendere in this State . . . of indecent exposure . . . is required to register pursuant to the provisions of this article if the court makes a specific finding on the record that, based on the circumstances of the case, the convicted person should register as a sex offender”).

In arguing to the contrary on appeal, Appellant alleges the plea judge purportedly erred by ordering him to register as a sex offender, and he raises a wide variety of contentions to support his claim in that regard. More specifically, Appellant appears to maintain this Court should—despite the relevant statutory language employed by our legislature—adopt a “good cause” standard for indecent exposure convictions, find the burden of proving “good cause” rests solely upon the State, and hold the State is required to prove “good cause” not just by a

preponderance of the evidence but beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, in essence, Appellant is asking this Court to rewrite South Carolina’s sex offender registry laws in a manner more to his own liking. Appellant appears to then want this Court to apply that new standard on appeal, find the State failed to prove “good cause” in his case, and *vacate* the plea judge’s order requiring him to register as a sex offender in total *without* remanding the matter or providing any opportunity for the plea judge to ever even consider such a contention. Beyond that, Appellant maintains there was purportedly “no competent evidence” he was a risk to sexually reoffend “*outside of prison*”<sup>8</sup> regardless of what standard is applied and, thus, the plea judge supposedly could not properly order him to registry as a sex offender. (App. Br. pp. 13-14) (emphasis added). For obvious reasons, there are multiple problems with Appellant’s arguments.

First, none of the arguments Appellant has elected to raise on appeal were ever raised to or ruled upon by the plea judge. Demonstrating that fact, Appellant—likely due to the statutory language our legislature actually used when setting out the standard to be followed by a sentencing judge deciding whether to order sex offender registration for indecent exposure—did

---

<sup>8</sup> Regarding reoffending *inside* of prison, Appellant seems to not believe that would be relevant since his disturbing behavior was and is—in his view—“an undeniable fact of incarcerated life.” (App. Br. p. 12). For what it’s worth, similar thinking has resulted in successful actions for violations of the federal Civil Rights Act. See, e.g., Beckford v. Dep’t of Corr., 603 F.3d 951, 953 (11th Cir. 2010) (“Melanie Beckford and 13 other women, all former non-security employees at Martin [Correctional Institution], complained that the Department failed to remedy sexually offensive conduct of inmates, including the frequent use of gender-specific abusive language and pervasive ‘gunning,’ the notorious practice of inmates openly masturbating toward female staff. . . . We conclude that the jury was entitled to find the Department liable under Title VII because it unreasonably failed to remedy the sexual harassment by its inmates. We also reject the other arguments of the Department and affirm.”); see also Frank Main, \$14 Million Settlement Proposed in Lawsuit Over Cook County Inmates Masturbating in Front of Female Public Defenders, Chicago Sun-Times (Feb. 23, 2020), <https://chicago.suntimes.com/news/2020/2/23/21149566/14-million-settlement-lawsuit-inmates-masturbating-cook-county-jail-tom-dart-amy-campanelli> (“A \$14 million legal settlement is being proposed by attorneys for Cook County public defenders and law clerks whose class-action lawsuit claims they were subjected to a hostile work environment in which inmates they represented were masturbating in front of them.”).

not *ask* the plea judge to find a “good cause” standard was applicable to sex offender registry determinations for indecent exposure and did *not* suggest the State should be required to prove “good cause”—beyond a reasonable doubt or otherwise—before registration could be ordered in such circumstances. Furthermore, Appellant did *not* argue he could not legally be placed on the sex offender registry based on the specific circumstances involved in his case and did *not* argue there was no “competent evidence” that would allow him to properly be ordered to register as a sex offender. Instead, plea counsel merely *asked* the plea judge not to place Appellant on the sex offender registry after opining she did not personally think he belonged on it, and, when the plea judge found sex offender registration was warranted anyway, plea counsel raised no objections of any kind in response. Cf. State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) (“No objection to sentencing was raised at trial and this issue is not properly before the court.”). In fact, the first time plea counsel actually suggested the plea judge may have erred in some manner was *in the notice of appeal*, and, when the plea judge timely responded to the claim of error identified in that notice of appeal by confirming through a written order he had made the specific finding of fact required by state law, plea counsel responded by filing a second notice of appeal raising the exact same claim of error that had been included in the first one. See State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”). Under such circumstances, the plea judge was wholly denied any opportunity to consider, address, or rule upon Appellant’s newly-advanced claims of error when rendering his discretionary decision regarding sex offender registration in Appellant’s case and, resultantly, Appellant’s current appellate claims neither were properly preserved for appellate review nor can appropriately be

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